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MRS. JUSTICE PARKER:
1
This desperately sad and anxious case involves the medical care of and prognosis for OT who was born on 29th May 2008 and is therefore 9½ months old as at the date of this hearing.  He is presently seriously unwell, having spent all but the first three weeks of his life in the intensive care unit at A Hospital.
2
The Hospital Trust responsible for the hospital having his care applies for orders in the following terms:  



“That the applicant and/or responsible medical practitioners having responsibility for the treatment and care of OT be at liberty to:




(a)  
treat the said child in accordance with their clinical discretion, including any decision they make; 


(i) 
whether or not to resuscitate him in the event of a cardiac or respiratory arrest, or any other life threatening event;


(ii)
whether or not to provide haemofiltration for renal failure;



(iii)
whether or not to escalate ventilator therapy;



(iv)
whether or not to provide inotropes in the event of cardiovascular collapse;



(v)
whether or not to replace the central line,


notwithstanding the refusal of the first and second respondents, his parents, to consent, it not being in the child’s best interests in the prevailing circumstances for the said interventions to be made and/or continued.



(b)
withdraw and withhold mechanical ventilatory support from the child where the responsible medical practitioners consider in their judgment that such mechanical ventilation is not in the child’s best interests, notwithstanding the refusal of the first and second respondents to consent.

3
They also sought a declaration that “the applicant’s staff shall furnish such treatment and nursing care as may be appropriate to ensure that the child suffers the least pain and distress and retains the greatest dignity.”
4
OT is unlikely to be able to breathe independently and withdrawal of ventilation will almost inevitably lead to his death.  OT’s parents love him devotedly and resist the application.  Their position is a dreadful one and no one can fail to have sympathy for them.
5
An order has been made preventing the identification of OT, his parents, the applicant Trust, the hospital and clinicians, and I shall continue that order unless or until I am invited to vary it or consider it right that it should be varied.

6
This case originally came before me on 6th March 2009 as an emergency application listed at that time for three and a half hours.  This is now, in fact, the tenth continuous day on which I have sat, although not all have been full days.  OT’s condition has fluctuated throughout the hearing and much new information has emerged during its course.  The emergency nature of the application, or at least the fact that little notice was given of it, has led to the parents submitting that there has been significant and important procedural unfairness to them, a case which I shall consider when considering my overall approach to my decision.  Documentation and other material has emerged piecemeal during the hearing.  The issues have also been complicated by OT’s fluctuating condition.  At one stage he appeared to be getting better, but he has recently deteriorated, so much so that he was thought to have a high chance at the beginning of this week of dying very shortly, and although he has made some modest improvement he is still extremely unwell and his condition, which had plateaued yesterday, has deteriorated a little overnight.
7
I know that the parents feel that this has been a rushed hearing, but it has been necessary to try to reach a conclusion in OT’s interests.  In my view, OT’s present condition makes it imperative now to reach a conclusion, particularly since it is quite possible that the parents will wish to appeal a decision adverse to them.  His condition is now so serious and the clinical choices (opposed by the parents) so stark that this process cannot be delayed until after the week-end.  I apologise to all if this judgment is not as well crafted as it might have been had there been more time available.  If there are errors in this judgment or if I do not deal with matters which are important I know that counsel will deal with this at the end of the judgment.
8
I have sat in public throughout this case where possible.  This was not possible on 16th March, when I did not sit but heard a telephone application;  nor on 18th March and the morning of 19th March, when I sat at the hospital because OT’s condition had deteriorated and the parents wanted to be able to be near his bedside.  Those sittings at the hospital gave me the opportunity, with the agreement of all parties, to visit OT briefly.  I am glad to have seen OT.  That opportunity brought home to me, if this were needed, the reality of OT, his humanity, and the seriousness of the decision that I have to make.
9
The parents originate from a country outside Great Britain.  The father has lived and worked here since 1996 and is a British citizen.  He is highly educated and speaks good English.  The mother is his first cousin.  Her English language skills are presently limited and she has been dependent on an interpreter in these proceedings.
10
OT is a beautiful little boy, very like his father in features, but even to the lay person’s eye seriously ill and profoundly disabled.  As I have said, his parents are absolutely devoted to him and want to preserve his life for as long as possible.  Their view of his condition and his prognosis is profoundly at odds with that of the hospital.  I have heard lengthy evidence from the father, but not from the mother.  She has put in a brief statement and has spoken to OT’s guardian. Her view and position is essentially the same as that of the father.  It has not been considered necessary for her to give evidence, and I consider that she has enough to deal with at the moment. 
11
The parents disagree with the hospital and the treating clinicians and the experts who have been instructed as to OT’s prognosis and with their unanimous view that further intensive medical intervention is not appropriate, save for palliative care, and that OT’s life should now come peacefully to an end.

12
The father sees himself as fighting for OT’s life, but the difficulty is that his view of OT’s prospects and what life means for OT is profoundly different from that of all the doctors.  The parents’ opposition, or at least that of the father, is complicated by suspicion of the hospital.  From July 2008 there have been suggestions that the hospital has been negligent in failing to identify and treat OT’s incredibly rare condition.  The case has been overtly put to the treating clinicians that the hospital’s position as to limitation and withdrawal of treatment is based upon the availability of resources and that he is seen by them as a “bed-blocker”.  It has been alleged and put to at least one witness that the “Carevue” notes, i.e. nursing records, have been falsified on the instructions of the doctors.  
13
The father has also voiced suspicion, although he stressed that he is not making any accusation, and he told me that he has been trying to suppress these thoughts, that the hospital have deliberately introduced infection into OT’s central line,  and that last Monday, 16th March, the consultant on call, Dr. P, and the nursing staff, were trying to turn off OT’s ventilation or otherwise cause him harm.
14
The father is highly intelligent and articulate.  He thinks that he is right and that the doctors are wrong.  When he disagrees with the doctors he can be pressurising and demanding and when a crisis arises this can descend into intimidating and threatening behaviour.  This has been particularly evident during the recent crisis.  I accept of course that the situation in which he finds himself is enormously distressing.
OT’S MEDICAL HISTORY
15
OT was born at full term by normal delivery.  At the age of about three weeks he was admitted to hospital having been unwell for three days, having had periods of apnoea, and presenting with poor feeding and lethargy.  He was extremely unwell upon admission.  Detailed investigations demonstrated that there was no obvious organic illness.  

16
Investigations of his condition have now led to the conclusion that he suffers from a mitochondrial condition of genetic origin.  Mitochondria deliver energy to the cells of the body.  They do not perform this function efficiently in OT’s body.  OT’s condition has not been definitively named.  It has a similarity with other genetic conditions.  It is described as a neuro-metabolic condition.
17
Since his admission to hospital aged three weeks he has been entirely dependent upon a ventilator for breathing.  As a direct result of his condition he has suffered brain stem damage; a metabolic stroke (which is what happens when the brain is deprived of energy, cells are damaged and die and an area of the brain then dies): inflammation leading to calcification in his brain; atrophy of his brain and brainstem; and his head has failed to grow.  He has fits and abnormal movements.  It is likely that it is the injury to the brainstem, which is the area of the brain which controls automatic activity such as respiration, which has caused him to be unable to breathe spontaneously.  

18
The unanimous evidence that I have heard is that the brain damage is irreversible and that where this is as a result of a neuro-metabolic condition the brain will not be able to repair itself.  The medical evidence is that it is highly likely, if not inevitable, that he will continue to have episodes of “decompensation” (when his cells do not function properly) when further damage will be caused to his brain, probably by way of metabolic stroke.  This may already have happened again recently.

19
His condition is extremely rare and cannot be named, but it is highly likely that he will die between now and three years of age with an outer limit of five years at the most.  His condition is thus life limiting.  His most likely cause of death will be organ failure or infection.  Since October 2008 he has had a central Hickman line due to venous access difficulties due to the scarring of his veins.
20
In July 2008 the hospital, with the parents’ consent, decided to put OT on copper therapy.  His disorder had similarities with another condition in which infants can benefit from copper treatment.  Dr. C, specialist in paediatric metabolic medicine at the hospital, thought it was worth commencing OT on copper treatment.  There is debate between the clinicians as to whether this has resulted in an improvement in OT’s condition.  It is the consensus that it may have improved his muscle tone, but not his overall condition.  The function of a number of other organs has improved – kidney and heart, for instance – which may be due to copper treatment or to other intensive care measures.  The experimental copper treatment was principally tried in order to try and arrest the brain damage caused by his condition.  All, save the parents, agree that copper cannot reverse his brain damage.
21
As well as receiving respiratory support through a ventilator, in August 2008 a tracheostomy was performed in order to assist OT’s ventilation.  As a result, he has an endotracheal tube.  Four attempts have been made at extubation – that is the removal of artificial ventilation.  The last such attempt was in December.  All attempts have failed because OT has not been able to breathe sufficiently to support his life.
22
As a result of the damage to his brain OT cannot suck or swallow.  He is fed by naso-gastric tube. He cannot swallow his own oral secretions.  The secretions cause him distress.  Sometimes the secretions are so copious that his lungs are swamped by his own fluids.  This problem has got very much worse since January 2009.  The father agrees that this is so.  Secretions need to be cleared by suctioning.  This happens sometimes as much as eight times in 15 minutes.  It is rarely less than four times an hour.  As well as suctioning his mouth it is necessary to suction his nasal passage into his airway; and through the tracheostomy into his trachea.  It is the view of the hospital that this causes an enormous amount of very obvious distress.  It is at the least highly uncomfortable, at the worst probably very painful.  The father disputes that this causes OT much distress; alternatively, he takes the view that the distress is compensated for by his pleasure in living and the benefit to him of continued life.
23
OT frequently desaturates as a result of his metabolic condition and/or the gathering secretions.  This means that he does not have enough oxygen in his bloodstream.  This also causes him distress, particularly if oxygen has to be forced into his lungs by hand by the process known as “bagging”.
24
OT’s condition requires him to have drips and lines inserted in order for drugs to be infused into his bloodstream.  By October 2008 the insertion of venous lines was becoming very difficult because of the scarring of peripheral veins and the difficulty in finding additional needle sites.  In addition, OT had suffered periodic deterioration of his condition every two to four weeks, with hypertension, mottling, fever and sometimes seizures.  It was not clear whether this resulted from infection or dysfunction of his brainstem.  MRI scanning during the course of the autumn indicating areas of calcification in his brain may support the diagnosis that it was as a result of his neuro-metabolic condition.  These episodes, however, ceased in November 2008.  
25
However, during one of these episodes it was apparent that OT was becoming more and more difficult to cannulate and notwithstanding the risk of infection it was considered that it was in OT’s best interests to have a central “Hickman” line inserted.  This was done on 2nd October, but there were unfortunately complications because an air leak was caused around his lung in the process of insertion.  The parents were extremely concerned that this was a result of hospital negligence.  The hospital says that this was an unfortunate and unforeseeable consequence of the fact that he has an endotracheal tube, and I see no reason to doubt this.
26
Dr. SA, paediatric neuro-developmental consultant at the hospital, was asked to see OT in November 2008.  His condition had stabilised and Dr. S, paediatric consultant intensivist, who had overall charge of OT’s care, had requested that Dr. SA give advice about optimising developmental opportunities for OT.  A particular problem, according to the hospital, is that OT spends much of his time asleep.  Dr. SA recommended a period of enhanced stimulation to determine whether the hospital were able to rouse OT to have more wakeful periods.  After three weeks no progress had been made in extending wakeful periods or developmental progress.  Dr. SA’s view was that some progress ought to have been seen after two weeks.  Dr. SA noted that OT often did not wake in response to stimulus, and even when awake his eyes do not open fully and he does not look fully alert.  She saw no definite evidence of visual fixation on near objects, or a visual following of moving near objects.  Stimulation provided when OT opened his eyes spontaneously did not result in prolongation of eye opening, or in him showing any greater evidence of alertness.  She observed that OT showed some awareness of loud sounds and this may result in him awakening briefly.  She observed OT to show movement of all four limbs from a sleeping state when his father spoke in a moderate voice close to him.  Her view is that OT shows some evidence of consciousness.  However, these episodes are brief, last less than 30 seconds and he does not show any sustained awareness of external stimuli.  However, she observed that OT is regularly seen to express discomfort in response to unpleasant stimuli such as cold touch, deep pressure, injections and suctioning.  She said that he expresses distress through facial grimacing and there may be reflex withdrawal of a limb from unpleasant stimulus.  Occasionally these reactions are prolonged, but often brief.  She says that OT shows no definite signs of pleasure to any appropriate stimulus.
27
The parents do not agree with Dr. SA’s assessment of OT.  They say that they have observed more signs of response in OT than she describes.
28
The stimulation of OT and the attempt to progress his development by touching him, moving his limbs, singing to him, reading to him and other stimulation continues.  There is some concern on the part of the hospital that OT may find that some of these activities when he is touched cause him distress.
29
OT has never lived at home with his parents, having spent all of his life since the age of three weeks in the intensive care unit of the hospital.  The parents visit for part of each day, 2-3 hours in the morning and 2-3 hours in the evening.   They presently stay nearby in accommodation provided by the hospital. They carry out some of OT’s care, but the majority of his care is provided by the nursing staff.  At the hospital OT’s care is managed by Dr. S, and in addition he has been under the care of Dr. C, consultant in paediatric metabolic medicine.  
30
By reason of OT’s condition, the applicant had been considering making an application for declarations permitting them to withdraw or limit treatment for some months, and thus several of the statements before me had been prepared in January 2009.  The applicants have also taken second opinions from consultants in paediatric intensive care, paediatric metabolic medicine and paediatric neurology.  Dr. S and Dr. C have had a number of meetings with OT’s parents in which the options for his care have been discussed.  It had been apparent for some time that the hospital and OT’s parents differed in a number of fundamental ways as to what could and ought to be done for him. The parents have been supported by the Patient Advice and Liaison Service (Pals) at the hospital. 

31
The parents had requested their own second opinion in September 2008.  In October 2008 the parents wrote a highly critical letter to the hospital alleging that the hospital was not willing to spend further resources on OT’s care and that the “findings and interpretations” of the hospital were “biased”.  There was also a renewed suggestion although no outright assertion of negligence in respect of his treatment.
32
Dr. S and Dr. C invited the parents to take a second opinion as to OT’s condition, prognosis and his care.  No second opinion was produced by them at that time.  The reason for this was explored in evidence with the father.  In the medical notes there is a reference, which the father agrees is accurate, to the effect that he was hoping to have a report from a doctor at the Portland Hospital in London in mid–December 2008. This was never made available and I was left uncertain and confused as a result of the father’s evidence as to why this report was never produced, as planned.  The father said he had spoken to the doctor but the report never materialised.  He said he could not remember the name of the doctor. It is common ground that the parents were given the names of a number of experts and of solicitors by the hospital.
33
The hospital have obtained their own second opinions from Dr. Morris, (report dated 24th November 2008) a consultant in paediatric metabolic medicine in Manchester, Dr. Fortune, a consultant paediatric intensivist, also from Manchester (report dated 18th November 2008), and Dr. Pohl, a consultant paediatric neurologist at Guy’s Hospital (report dated 4 February 2009), all of whose reports were given to the parents.  I am satisfied that these doctors are wholly independent. All agreed that long-term paediatric care was not in OT’s best interests.  The parents instructed their present solicitors on 29th January 2009.
34
On 29th January 2009 the hospital, by way of a compromise, sought to move towards the placement of OT at home with his parents on the basis of home ventilation and a limitation of treatment.  The precise terms of the proposal are set out at an addendum to Dr. C’s report and are as follows:


“1.
OT should be moved out of the intensive care unit and if the parents wish OT to continue with ventilation we should move towards home ventilation;


2.
OT should not be re-admitted to the intensive care unit;


3.
No inotropes, no cardio-pulmonary resuscitation, no renal replacement therapy, no escalation of ventilator therapy should be offered;


4.
OT should be kept as comfortable as possible with drugs to limit secretions and oral/intravenous antibiotics as appropriate (should OT be suffering ongoing distress);


5.
First and second line anti-convulsants should be given in the event of ongoing seizures.



This course of action should be put in place now.”

35
The parents would not agree to this course and wanted OT to remain in the intensive care unit and to have all available treatment.  They have never, in fact, sought to have OT home until this hearing, when they have said that they would like to move towards this.
36
In February 2009 it was probably clear that an impasse had been reached between the parents and the hospital and clinicians but discussions continued to take place intensively with the parents, and  it was hoped that some kind of resolution might be achieved.
37
In the event, an application was made in an emergency.  Hickman lines are prone to infection.  On 4th March 2009 it became apparent that OT was unwell and it was thought that he had an infection of which it was thought that the central line was the source.  On 5th March 2009 he became acutely ill.  He was given antibiotics to treat a presumed infection.  He was put on a high frequency oscillator ventilator at high pressure, sedated and paralysed.  

38
On 5th March 2009 the hospital made an application before Holman J., the applications judge, seeking to limit treatment and to withdraw ventilation.  The parents resisted the application.  Holman J. was not in a position to hear the case and ordered that it be listed before another judge at noon the following day.  In a short judgment he said that he hoped that CAFCASS might be able to obtain a second opinion by then.  It does not seem to me, as Mr. Bowen submits to me, that he considered that the case should not be dealt with substantively immediately (the guardian did not in fact instruct an expert to provide a second opinion). 
39
The matter came before me the following day when it was still thought that OT might not survive that crisis.  The application before me was the substantive application for declarations that the hospital were not under any duty to provide further invasive treatment and a declaration that it was lawful to withdraw artificial ventilation. The hearing lasted for about 6 ½ hours.
40
At the commencement of the hearing on 6th March, Mr. Bowen, who represents the parents, submitted that it was in breach of the parents’ human rights and those of OT for me to entertain this application on an emergency basis, relying on the decision in the case of Glass v. The United Kingdom (Application No.61827/00) (Glass No.2) and the decision of the Court of Appeal in Portsmouth NHS Trust v. Wyatt & Anor. [2005] 1 WLR 3995, [2005] EWCA Civ 1181.  His clients at that stage resisted both the withdrawal of ventilation and the limitation on further treatment.  They wanted, as they want now, everything to be done to preserve OT’s life.
41
I declined to adjourn any part of the hearing without hearing evidence. Mr. Bowen had asked me to list the case for a two to three day hearing.  As it happened, I was able to accommodate the case starting the following Monday, 9th March.  I indicated that I was not prepared to approve the withdrawal of ventilation at that stage without the parents being given an opportunity fully to address the case, and that I wished to hear evidence only in relation to escalation of treatment in the event of deterioration in OT’s condition. I heard evidence from Dr. S, who told me that OT’s condition was extremely serious.  She confirmed that he was on a high frequency oscillator ventilator to provide oxygen, was sedated and paralysed, this being necessary because of his illness and because of his distress, and because the ventilation is provided by rigid tube.  He was on high dose broad spectrum antibiotics.  It was thought that the Hickman line, as the presumed source of the infection, might need to be replaced.  The hospital thought that it was not in his best interests to administer further invasive treatment by way of replacement of the Hickman line, which would necessitate operative procedure under general anaesthetic, or inotropes to stabilise his heart rate and blood pressure, or haemofiltration to relieve pressure on his kidneys – that is filtration of his blood supply through an external filter.  Both the administration of inotropes and haemofiltration would have required the insertion of an additional Hickman line in addition to that already in situ or its replacement. She did not think that any of these interventions were in OT’s best interests.
42
Dr. S told me in particular that she did not think that it was in OT’s best interests to undergo cardio pulmonary resuscitation (“CPR”) in the event of cardio-pulmonary arrest.  She described this as highly traumatic with a risk of rib fractures, and not justified bearing in mind OT’s condition.   
43
The father gave evidence.  He told me that he did not think that the effect of CPR would be adverse.  He was reminded of Dr. S’s evidence as to what it would entail.  He seemed unable to focus on this.  He agreed that Dr. S had explained to him previously what it entailed.  He still seemed unable to focus on this.  He repeated that he wished all steps to be taken to preserve OT’s life.  He said, as he had been reported as saying previously to hospital staff, that he thought that OT’s condition was treatable and that he would be able to live a relatively normal life, although he might be behind at school.  He thought that CPR was justifiable in those circumstances.  He also said, but then later withdrew, that he was suspicious because the hospital had referred to the possibility of infection when the Hickman line had been inserted in October 2008.  He thought that the infection might have been deliberately introduced, but made it clear that he was not making any firm assertion in relation to that.  He expressed extreme suspicion of Dr. S and her motives.
44
At around 6.15 pm that evening I adjourned the hearing in respect of withdrawal of ventilation until the following week, but made an order in that it was lawful not to escalate treatment in the terms sought, in spite of the opposition of the parents, in the terms sought, namely (by Paragraph 6):


“That the applicant and/or responsible medical practitioners having responsibility for the treatment and care of OT be at liberty to:



(a)  
treat the said child in accordance with their clinical discretion, including any decision they make; 



(i) 
whether or not to resuscitate him in the event of a cardiac or respiratory arrest, or any other life threatening event;



(ii)
whether or not to provide haemofiltration for renal failure;



(iii)
whether or not to escalate ventilator therapy;



(iv)
whether or not to provide inotropes in the event of cardiovascular collapse;



(v)
whether or not to replace the central line,



notwithstanding the refusal of the first and second respondents, his parents, to consent, it not being in the child’s best interests in the prevailing circumstances for the said interventions to be made and/or continued.

I refused permission to appeal.  I was asked to deliver a short judgment, and did so. 
45
Mr. Bowen told me that he and his team had instructed Dr. Vince, consultant paediatric intensivist at Guy’s Hospital, to advise the parents.  It was hoped that she would see OT that evening.  I thus made an order on 6th March that:


“There be permission to the first and second respondents to rely upon the expert witness evidence from a paediatric intensivist and/or other appropriate expert.



There be permission for the said experts to discuss the case and their conclusions with the responsible consultant, Dr. S, and other members of the treating team.”

46 I listed the matter for 12 noon on Monday, 9th March 2009.  I indicated that I would be available in the event of a crisis over the week-end to take applications over the telephone.  In the event, OT’s condition stabilised over that week-end.  On the resumption of the case on Monday, 9th March, I was told that OT was improving.  The infection seemed to be responding to antibiotics.  His Hickman line was still in place and his temperature was normal.  His respiratory function had improved.  I, therefore, adjourned the case until the next morning at Mr. Bowen’s request, since an appointment had been made at 2 pm to see Dr. Vince.  
THE PARENTS’ POSITION AT TRIAL
47
Through Mr. Bowen the parents made the concession that they were now prepared to accept that paragraph 6 of my order of 6th March 2009 would continue and that therefore there would be no escalation of treatment for OT in the event of a cardiac arrest or other crisis, and that treatment would merely consist of palliative care.  This concession was made solely on the basis that the hospital would now move towards OT’s care at home with home ventilation in terms of the proposal that had been made on 29th January 2009, and which I have already recited.  I was later told in evidence that the process of moving towards OT’s return home with home ventilation and nursing support was likely to take about a year in order to put funding in place.
48
When the father came to give his evidence it was apparent that he felt that he had been forced into that concession.  He has now withdrawn it.  He still wants everything to be done to preserve OT’s life and all possible medical treatment to be offered to him, and I am asked to revisit paragraph 6 of my order.
THE APPLICANT’S POSITION AT TRIAL
49
The applicants’ position at the hearing on 6th March was that ventilation should be withdrawn immediately and OT offered palliative care.  By 9th March they had changed their position, proposing that ventilation would be weaned over a period of ten days.  Both processes would be highly likely to lead to OT’s death.  However, they thought that the longer process might be more acceptable to OT’s parents.  Their case is that palliative care would be given and OT lapse into unconsciousness and therefore die with little suffering.
50
As a result of OT’s present condition, which has deteriorated, and as a result of the parents’ current position, the applicants have now reverted to the plan for immediate withdrawal.  This, in fact, is a course which, in the opinion of the clinicians, will cause OT to lapse into unconsciousness swiftly, and with palliative care should allow him to die with the least distress.
51
Their case is that OT’s condition and  his treatment, increasingly invasive, is causing him immense distress and that his case falls within the relevant Paediatric College Guidelines, which I shall consider when I come to consider the law.
THE HEARING


52
The hearing proper commenced on Tuesday, 10th March with a two to three day estimate.  In fact, it has lasted ten working days, although I did not sit on the whole of 9th March.  On 16th March I entertained a telephone application only and sat only briefly on the morning of 17th March.  Some days were long, but others were not.  For instance, on Tuesday, 10th March, I rose  a little early so that Mr. Bowen could have a consultation with Dr. Vince.
53      During the first week of the hearing OT’s acute crisis receded.  He resumed ventilation on his portable “Nippy” ventilator, and sedation and paralysing agents were withdrawn.  However, his problem with secretions resumed and intensified.  

54 During the course of the hearing Mr. Bowen (I recall on Wednesday 11th March) said that he was not intending to call Dr. Vince or rely on her opinion.  He told me that she had had at least one meeting with the parents and their legal team, had seen OT for 1 ½ hours on 9th March 2009, and had had a telephone conversation with Dr S on the evening of the same day. She had had access to OT’s medical records, all of which had been supplied to the parents in February 2009. I was told there was no report in existence.  Miss Wood on behalf of the guardian indicated her intention to apply to seek disclosure of a note of her opinion.  She relied on the decision in Re L (Police Investigation: Privilege) [1996] 1 FLR 731.  Mr. Bowen resisted that course most strenuously.  The applicants were neutral.  I was not certain whether I should order disclosure.  I was not sure that it was necessary for me to do so where the absence of the report meant that the parents had no countervailing medical opinion on which to rely.  I was anxious not to increase pressure on the parents or to increase their stress.  I could also foresee difficulties if Dr Vince’s opinion were to be disclosed but the parents did not wish to rely on it.  What would be its evidential value? Might the parents wish her to be cross examined? I expressed these concerns, but also made it clear that if her opinion were not disclosed voluntarily I would draw an inference that she did not support the parents’ case. I note that it was recorded in the medical notes that the parents would still wish OT to receive treatment even if a second opinion advised against it.  Miss Wood did not in the end pursue the application.
55
By the end of Friday, 13th March, the applicants’ evidence had been given and cross-examined.  I heard from Dr. S, Dr. C, Dr. SA, Dr. Fortune, Dr. Pohl, Dr M (expert in palliative care), Dr MO (a consultant intensivist at the hospital), Sister D, Nurse S and Nurse MC.  The father’s evidence commenced on Friday, 13th March, but it was not complete at the end of the court day.
56
During the course of Friday, 13th March, Mr. Bowen stated that he would or might seek an adjournment for perhaps a month in order to seek an opinion from a neurologist.  He wanted to make this application because of evidence which had been given that morning by two of the nurses, Nurse S and Nurse MC, and also to seek an opinion from an expert (of an undefined discipline) to address the father’s assertion that he thought that the hospital had not done enough to control OT’s secretions.  I was not due to sit on Monday 17th March.  I indicated that I was not prepared to entertain the application for an adjournment in the middle of the father’s evidence, and that I might not make a final decision on that application until after submissions had been completed.  I invited Mr. Bowen to produce information on Tuesday, 17th March, when I was next due to sit, as to what steps had been taken to identify experts and if so of what disciplines on the basis that I would require him to show that there was purpose in an adjournment and that expert evidence might reasonably be available.  I also pointed out that the parents had had the opportunity of instructing Dr. Vince.   The parents continued to decline to state what her advice was.
THE EVENTS OF 16TH MARCH 2009
57
At about 7 am on Monday 16th March 2009 OT deteriorated.  He had no measurable blood pressure.  His skin was grey and mottled.  It was thought that this might be a recurrence of the line infection or the result of neurological de-compensation, or both.  OT, who had been on antibiotics since 4th March 2009, was given additional antibiotics and removed from his portable “Nippy” ventilator and placed on an intensive care “baby-log” ventilator.  Dr. P, consultant on duty, was called and the parents were notified.  They arrived very shortly afterwards.
58
I am quite satisfied from a note of a conversation with Dr P recorded by Miss Harry Thomas QC at 7.20 am that morning that Dr. P was fully au fait with OT’s condition when he arrived at the hospital.  By the time he arrived OT was gasping and unconscious.  He took the view that it was impossible to change OT’s Hickman line or to add an additional central line to give inotropes because the procedure might kill him.  Dr. P thought that OT had a 60 to 70 per cent chance of dying that day and he warned the parents that OT’s situation was very grave and told them that that was his opinion.  Dr. P suggested that OT be placed on his mother’s lap.  The Imam was called.  OT had pink froth emerging from his lungs, thought at that point to be caused by a damaged trachea as a result of suctioning.  The father’s reaction to OT’s decline was to accuse the hospital of not treating OT properly and to demand an escalation of treatment.
59
In his evidence given to me yesterday the father told me that Dr. P addressed only three questions to him and did not seem to know what OT’s condition was.  I reject that.  It also seems to me, contrary to the father’s case, and although I have not heard Dr. P, that he treated the parents with compassion and respect. It was at his suggestion OT was placed on his mother’s lap.  I am also satisfied that the father placed pressure on Dr. P which led him to give ventilation to OT at a level which was in Dr. P’s view not in OT’s interests.  Dr. S, in giving evidence to me on 18th March, told me that high pressure ventilation with 100 per cent oxygen, which is what OT is presently receiving, cannot be tolerated for long, even in an adult, and is going to cause physical damage to the lungs within 48 hours.  
60
OT desaturated during the course of that morning.  Dr. P “bagged” him by forcing air into his lungs by hand.  The father pressurised Dr. P by telling him “bag him harder”.  Dr. S told me that “bagging” forces air into the lungs at even higher pressure than the ventilator.  It can be distressing and can be damaging.
61
Later on that morning the father behaved in an extremely intimidating way to the nurses.  He phoned his solicitors on a number of occasions during the day, asking them to seek to vary the order which I had made on 6th March whereby I declared that it was not in OT’s interests that treatment should be escalated.  He photographed the dials on the ventilator.  He tried to prevent the nurses from altering the settings on the ventilator.  At one point he said to one of the nurses, “This is murder, this is murder”.  The father at first denied behaving in the way that I have described, but during the course of cross-examination he accepted that he had shouted and become agitated, that he had told one of the nurses that this was murder and that he had attempted to interfere with the medical treatment.  He told me in evidence that he had thought the hospital was going to “do something” to OT, the something included an attempt to turn off the ventilation.
62
Mr. Bowen, on instructions, put to Dr. S that there had been an attempt by the hospital to withdraw ventilation without court consent that day.  The father told me in evidence that he had had this thought and tried to put this thought out of his mind. Dr. S denied that the hospital had tried to withdraw ventilation, and I accept her denial.
63
I had not intended to sit on Monday 16th March 2009 because I was chairing a conference in Oxford.  On the preceding Friday this had seemed to me in any event to be a convenient break in the hearing, since I was told that the parents at that stage were still seeking the opportunity to investigate the possibility of obtaining further medical evidence.  But as a result of OT’s deterioration, I heard an application over the telephone on the morning of 16th March whereby Mr. Bowen sought to persuade me that I should remove from Paragraph 6 of the order of 6th March 2009 the important words:



“… notwithstanding the refusal of the first and second respondents to consent, it not being in the child’s best interests in the prevailing circumstances for the said interventions to be made and/or continued.”
Mr. Bowen submitted to me that the parents perceived that the hospital were not doing all that they could to provide treatment for OT and that the words which he wished to be excised supported the hospital in that position.
64
On behalf of the hospital and the guardian it was submitted that the opportunity for conflict between the parents and the hospital needed to be reduced and the hospital put in a position, or to remain in a position where, so far as possible, they were not pressurised by the father to give treatment against their clinical judgment.

65
At the time when I heard that application I, and I think counsel, did not know of the events when the father was in fact putting pressure on the medical staff.  I declined to vary my order. I was in no doubt for the reasons I gave on 6th March that the hospital needed to act in accordance with their clinical judgment, and that it was not in OT’s best interests to be subjected to invasive medical treatment to resuscitate him or to administer other invasive treatment.  In any event, I was told that the reinsertion of a Hickman line would probably kill OT and that there was at that time no need for haemofiltration.  I understand from the father’s evidence that he continued to place pressure on the hospital to ventilate OT and thus to escalate medical treatment after the result of that hearing was made known to him.
66
OT did not die on 16th March 2009.  His condition stabilised a little but there had been no improvement as between Tuesday, 17th March and Wednesday, 18th March.  Overnight on 18th/19th March, today being 19th March 2009, his condition has deteriorated a little.
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When Dr. S gave evidence before me again on 19th March 2009, she told me, and I accept, that OT’s deterioration was likely to be part of a pattern of intermittent deterioration from which he will not make a recovery to his previous condition, but which is part of an overall decline.  This is precisely the pattern which had been predicted by Dr. C and Dr. Pohl when they gave their evidence before me.
68
Dr. S does not know whether the recent collapse is a resurgence of the infection or is a result of further neuro-metabolic damage.  The pink froth emerging from OT’s lungs makes her think that there probably has been a further metabolic stroke.  She thinks that there has been partial collapse of his lungs, causing oedema. The presentation is entirely in line with a metabolic stroke having occurred.  She thinks, however, it is quite likely that there is also an infection and that OT’s present condition results from a combination of neuro-metabolic decompensation and infection.
69
As a result of the oedema, the oxygen/carbon dioxide exchange in OT’s lungs is not taking place efficiently at the moment.  Therefore, it has been necessary to deliver oxygen at very high pressures.  The pressures of oxygen presently exerted will cause damage and/or are probably causing damage and cannot be continued.  
70
I add for the sake of completeness that I rejected an application for a wholesale adjournment of the application on 17th March.  I did not sit that day save to deal with the adjournment application and procedural matters because I wanted to allow the parents the whole of that day to be with their son.  On 18th March and the morning of 19th March I sat at the hospital so that the parents would be able to go to OT as they needed.  I heard Dr. S again.  The father wished to conclude his evidence, and he did so, notwithstanding that I indicated that I would not require this.
THE EVIDENCE
71 The evidence of all the treating doctors and the experts was unanimous.  OT’s condition is serious and progressive and his decline is inevitable.  Future treatment is futile and will only escalate his suffering. The evidence is that OT has minimal consciousness, is mostly asleep but retains awareness of pain.  Suctioning causes him extreme discomfort and probably pain.  Escalating medical treatment will not give him any benefit.  Dr. S referred to continuing medical treatment as “torture”.  It has been submitted to me that this is hyperbole.  The guardian, who has considerable experience in these cases, agrees that OT is suffering.  The problem is that no one knows how much.  There is some evidence that he may be able to derive comfort from being held by his parents, for instance.  There is no evidence that he is truly able to experience pleasure.  There is abundant evidence that he suffers.  Escalation of ventilation also causes OT distress.  The levels that he is on at the moment are so high that he has to be sedated.
THE PARENTS’ VIEW OF OT’S DEVELOPMENT
72
Mr. T thinks that OT communicates with and has an awareness of his parents.  He thinks that OT may get better.  He has expressed the view more than once that he thinks that it is a reasonable prospect that OT will be able to go to school, although perhaps be a little delayed.  He modified this when he was last in the witness box (and, it is said on his behalf, having reflected on the medical evidence given in court) to say that he recognised that OT would remain seriously disabled. His view in relation to possible recovery, in my view, is, sadly, wholly unrealistic. In my view, he misinterprets OT’s behaviour and sees a reaction that is not there, and is insufficiently aware of OT’s distress.  The reasons may be understandable, but he is, in my view, unable to take an objective or accurate view of OT, his cognitive abilities, development, current state of health, prognosis and the degree to which he is suffering at present.  I will deal with the evidence in more detail when I come to deal with the “balance sheet” which counsel have drawn up in order to assist me in this case.

VIDEO FOOTAGE
73
I was asked to see a number of hours of video footage in court.  The recordings had been made by Mr. T over a period since at least December 2008.  I note that Dr. S, Dr. C, and Dr. Pohl have seen a number of clips taken up to January 2009.   A number of the video clips were shown in court on the day when Dr. C gave evidence.  A further 40 minute video was shown in the course of Dr. Pohl’s evidence.  The father initially wanted a two hour video to be shown, but this was not possible since Dr. Pohl, who was in the witness box most of the day, had a clinical appointment at Guy’s Hospital.  I have seen all the clips and I have seen parts of them more than once.
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The parents are certain that the recordings show a baby who was communicating and responding.  The doctors do not agree.  So far as I am in a position to judge, neither do I.  I was cautioned against lay interpretation of observations by Dr. Pohl.  Nevertheless, it is important for me to record what I saw.


1.  The parents’ affection and tenderness towards and care of OT was most marked.  He was held, stroked, tickled, talked and sung to, and attempts were made to engage his interests in a number of toys.


2.  There was little difference in OT in all the clips, notwithstanding that they were taken over a period of at least three months, and maybe more.


3.  OT’s eyes were closed for much of the time.  He opened them for brief periods.  He showed no signs of fixing and following at all.  At one point his father tried to attract his attention by moving a cuddly toy in front of his face.  He showed no interest in it until a point when it was directly in front of his face.  I thought that he seemed to have some awareness that there was something there.  Dr. Pohl’s opinion is that OT is cortically blind.  That is, his eyes are unimpaired but his brain cannot make sense of what he sees.  Some awareness that light has been blocked out is not inconsistent with that.  Apart from that OT showed no interest at all in any of the play things, including a toy which lit up.  There was some flickering in his eyes.  Dr. Pohl told me that that was indicative of the degree of his neurological damage.


4.  OT showed awareness of loud noise, but only by way of startle reaction.
5.  There was no indication that he positively responded to voices, although I do note that the evidence of Nurse MC and Nurse S, which I will consider when I come to consider the “balance sheet”, was that they thought that OT had some response to his mother, an observation which Dr. Pohl agreed might be right, and that it might be that OT cooed in response to his father speaking to him.  I heard OT make a noise which could be described as cooing intermittently throughout the course of the videos which I have seen.  This is the kind of noise that one sometimes hears in quite young babies.  It was not clear to me from the video that this was actually in response to the father, as opposed to incidental.  I have attempted to ascertain whether the father had ever heard anything different from what was on the video clip, and it does not seem that any different noise has been heard.


6.  There did not appear to be any evidence of purposeful movement.  OT did not kick his legs or reach out for anything.  His legs moved in response to having his nappy changed or his legs tickled, but in a way which I agree, having heard Dr. Pohl, is more akin to a reflex action than a purposeful action.  His arms were mostly held rather stiffly above his head.


7.  His appearance and movement reminded me throughout of a drowsing new-born baby.

WHAT THE PARENTS PROPOSE
75
The parents’ case before me is that there is no reason now why the proposal put forward on 29th January 2009 should not now be put into effect.  They point out, quite rightly, that this proposal emanated from the hospital.  Dr. S and Dr. C point out that this was a compromise and one that was proposed when OT was stable.  They point out that in OT’s presently fragile state it would be extremely difficult to implement.  In any event, it would be very difficult to provide OT with medication without a functioning Hickman line.  The hospital does not know whether it will have to remove OT’s Hickman line because it does not know whether it is the source of infection at the moment. Cultures are presently negative but further results may be available later this week.  OT is not well enough for it to be removed and another inserted.  
76
It is quite apparent to me from his evidence that the father’s concession that treatment should not be escalated in the event of deterioration was not one to which he agreed wholeheartedly, and not one that he can really adhere to.  The reality is that in his distress and conviction that his son must survive at all costs he will insist on intensive treatment whatever the doctors’ clinical view and whatever the court may say.  The events of 16th March demonstrate that.  It was probably too much to ask of him to abide by that concession in any event.  The proposal of 29th January was probably not a very sensible one, even at that time.  It is now wholly unrealistic.

77 
The parents have now withdrawn their concession and their agreement to Paragraph 6 of the order of 6th March. It would in any event require the utmost co-operation between the parents and the treating clinicians for treatment to be effective in OT’s interests.  That degree of co-operation has never been present and I think it highly unlikely that it would ever be present because of the father’s feelings about the hospital and the doctors.  There must now be a real doubt as to whether OT would ever be fit enough to go home in any event.
THE DUE PROCESS ARGUMENT
78
Mr. Bowen submits on behalf of his clients that there has been a profound flaw in the process in this case which has led to a breach of the rights of both his clients and OT pursuant to Article 8 of the European Convention.  He refers me first of all to the decision of the European Court in Glass v. The United Kingdom (Application No.61827/00) (Glass No.2).  In that case the court held that the decision to impose treatment on a minor child in defiance of the objections of his mother gave rise to an interference with the child’s right to respect for his private life and in particular his right to physical integrity.  The court declined to consider whether the interference with the mother’s respect for her family life was also established.  In that case a “do not resuscitate” notice had been placed on the notes of a disabled child who was thought to be about to die, and diamorphine was administered contrary to his mother’s wishes.  The court held that the onus was on the Hospital Trust to take the initiative and defuse the situation in anticipation of further emergency.  It was:



“... not persuaded that an emergency High Court application could have been made by the Trust when it became clear that the second applicant [the mother] was firmly opposed to the administration of diamorphine to the first applicant.”


The court concluded that the decision of the authorities to override the second applicant’s objection to the proposed treatment in the absence of authorisation by a court resulted in a breach of Article 8 of the Convention.

79
It is implicit within Glass No2 that an application must be made in sufficient time for the respondents to respond.  There is nothing in Glass No 2 to suggest that emergency applications to the court in themselves are in breach of human rights and indeed the court referred to the possibility that such applications might be made.
80 
In Portsmouth Hospital NHS Trust v. Wyatt & Anor. [2005] 1 WLR 3995, [2005] EWCA Civ 1181, the Court of Appeal, when considering whether a declaration should be granted or continued in respect of a profoundly ill child, accepted the submissions made on behalf of the NHS Trust as follows:

1.  Although the clinicians owe no legal duties of care to the parents, they have legal obligations to give effect to their wishes unless superseded by the court.


2.  Until the court has ruled the views of the parents take precedence.  Thus, in the period between the issue of proceedings and the judgment the usual situation is that the views of the parents prevail unless the clinicians could not, consistent with their professional views, follow the parents’ instructions.

81
Mr. Bowen relies on the decisions in Portsmouth NHS Trust v. Wyatt & Anor. [2005] 1 WLR 3995, [2005] EWCA Civ 1181 and Glass v. The United Kingdom (Application No.61827/00) (Glass No.2)) in support of the proposition that the case should not have been brought in an emergency and that the parents should be permitted further time in order to present their case.
82
The decision in Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust v Wyatt [2005] 1 WLR 3995, [2005] EWCA Civ 1181, inter alia, concerned the question of whether or not an advance declaration should be made in respect of medical treatment and, if so, whether it should be maintained.  Counsel for the Health Authority and the guardian set out a number of arguments (see paras.99-105 and 106-110) in favour of the proposition that such applications should be made  in advance, so that the parents could have an opportunity to respond to the application and obtain their own expert evidence.  On the other hand, it was said that the court is not a general advice centre to lawyers in medical cases, and that advance declarations has the disadvantage that changes in circumstances might render them inappropriate.
83
The Court of Appeal concluded that the arguments were finely balanced as to the desirability of there being in place a treatment plan which can be implemented without further application to the court; there is a tension between the concept of a declaration and a situation which is sufficiently fluid to render it likely that circumstances may change, with the consequence that the lawfulness of the conduct identified in the declaration may be called into question.  It stressed that where a child is subject to a fluctuating medical condition a once and for all declaration may be inappropriate. It said that each case is fact specific.
84
I do not take from Glass (No.2) or from Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust v. Wyatt [2005] 1 WLR 3995, [2005] EWCA Civ 1181 the proposition that an emergency application should never be made.  Mr. Bowen argues that the Trust should have made their application in February 2009 when it became clear that they and the parents were at loggerheads with regard to treatment for OT and when the parents had rejected the compromise proposal made on 29th January 2009. I am in no doubt that, had an application been made at that stage, there would have been a danger that it would have been argued that the application was premature and should not govern the circumstances which now arise.  Indeed, when OT’s condition again became critical on 16th March, I was asked to revisit the declaration that I had made on 6th March 2009 on the basis that circumstances had by then changed.
85
What I do draw from the authorities, however, is the proposition that it is necessary so far as possible for the parents to be in a position to address the application made.  As I have said, the Court of Appeal stated in terms that until the court has ruled the views of the parents take precedence.  At para.106 in Portsmouth NHS Trust v. Wyatt & Anor. [2005] 1 WLR 3995, [2005] EWCA Civ 1181, the guardian argued, and I take the Court of Appeal to have accepted, that:


“It would simply not be possible for any emergency hearing to take place with the extensive and detailed medical evidence and argument which has been a feature of this argument.  There was a high likelihood of C [the child in that case] having to be ventilated in order to await a decision of the court, however much that might be against her interests.”

86
In Glass (No.2) the European Court of Human Rights appears to have taken the view that the application ought to have been made in due time for the parents to respond.
87
However, in this case the parents have had solicitors since 30th January 2009.  The father sought a second opinion from the Portland Hospital in December 2008 and it is not clear to me why that was not pursued. The parents have had a long period of time since the dispute with the hospital crystallised to seek and obtain medical opinions.
88
I did not accede to the application to withdraw ventilation on 6th March 2009.  Mr. Bowen’s arguments based on  Glass v. The United Kingdom (Application No.61827/00) (Glass No.2) and Portsmouth NHS Trust v. Wyatt & Anor. [2005] 1 WLR 3995, [2005] EWCA Civ 1181 were, in my view, well founded at that stage.  However, my order gave specific permission to the parents to seek the advice of Dr. Vince, whom they saw 11 days ago.  Notwithstanding that Mr. Bowen made it clear shortly thereafter that he was not intending to call Dr. Vince, he also stressed that he wished to take her advice in relation to the significance of the Carevue notes which were produced towards the end of the first week of the hearing.  I invited Mr. Bowen more than once to take steps to identify other experts and even offered the name of an expert known to me whom I thought might be able to advise him with recommendations for suitable alternative expert advice.  I do not, of course, know what Dr. Vince’s opinion is, save that I must infer that she does not support the parents.  A suggestion has been made that the father fears her to be biased because she has links with the hospital treating OT, although Mr. Bowen does not ally himself with that accusation.  It is difficult for me to accept that she is biased or that her advice is flawed in the absence of any information as to the basis of her opinion or any understanding as to the basis of a quarrel with it.  Mr. Bowen made it clear as the hearing progressed this week, and indeed more than once, that he was not intending to call any expert evidence to support his clients’ case.  He implied that there was no active search going on this week for any alternative expert.  When I pressed him as to what had been done this week he told me that there had been further investigations but was not able to tell me what they were.
89
The father now suggests that it might be possible to investigate further treatment in relation to OT’s condition.  There has been one child in Germany, with a different condition but some similar symptoms, who did appear to benefit for a time from copper treatment, although that child has sadly died.  This is not a new matter. It was first raised in November 2008.  I am quite satisfied that copper treatment will not assist OT’s recovery on the evidence that I have heard. 
90
It is also now suggested that OT’s secretions might be managed by surgical removal of his salivary glands and that an investigation might take place as to that possibility.  This suggestion arose during the evidence which Dr. S gave yesterday (18th March) when she said that there were two possible surgical options, both of which, I am satisfied, are theoretical.   One was a tracheotomy to bring the trachea to the outside of the throat. This would lead to a loss of the voice box and permanent damage.  The father and mother do not support that intervention.  They do, however, have some interest in the second possibility, surgery to remove some of  the salivary glands (parotidectomy).  Whether the operation is technically feasible or not, about which I have no evidence, whether it would in any way be ethical to perform it and whether any surgeon could be found to perform it, I take the view that such an operation for OT in his condition with his prospects is contrary to his best interests.  It is a measure of the father’s desperation and wish to preserve OT’s life at all costs that he even makes this suggestion and wants to make enquiries about it.  There is no realistic prospect in my view that such expert evidence is going to assist in this extremely difficult situation.
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Mr. Bowen is now seeking an adjournment of either seven days or alternatively, indefinitely, in order to research the prospect of further expert evidence.  I do not consider that that is a well-founded application bearing in mind that this case has now endured for ten days and I have no evidence upon which I can rely that any concerted attempt is still being made to search for a further expert who is likely to be able to assist, and indeed I was given the information last week that that was no longer something which the parents were seeking. 
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This hearing has taken place over a full fortnight and evidence has been given by the doctors who have assessed OT’s developmental progress.  Large numbers of documents are available.  Mr. Bowen has said that he has had insufficient time to review them but, as I have already said, he was intending to ask Dr. Vince to assist with that exercise.  The Carevue notes have been available for over a week and Mr. Bowen is supported by a solicitor.  The core bundle of reports, evidence and medical reports has been pored over and analysed in great detail. The parents have had the medical records since at least February. 
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I am quite satisfied that the reason why the Trust’s application was not made in February 2009 was not due to any malevolent or tactical decision to deprive the parents of a fair trial.  It is quite apparent to me that the clinicians who have been dealing with Mr. T have found his approach to OT’s illness and his seeming inability to listen to any advice which conflicts with his own views extremely stressful and distressing.  The events of this last week have compounded that difficulty.  Indeed, during the course of the hearing on 18th March, OT had to be moved from the neonatal intensive care unit to the paediatric intensive care unit because the nursing staff had become increasingly stressed and distressed at OT’s condition in the context of the father’s reaction to OT’s deterioration on 16th March.  I am quite satisfied that the Trust and the hospital were anxious about the impact of highly charged, lengthy and expensive litigation, but they were also trying to pursue a rational and agreed solution until the crisis arose.  The guardian told me in her brief evidence that in her experience of these kinds of cases this is often precisely what happens.
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The reason for advance notice is to provide parents with an opportunity to prepare their case and to gather and pursue evidence and to obtain a second opinion.  I am satisfied that every opportunity has been given to them during this hearing.  Particularly bearing in mind the crisis which now faces OT, there is no realistic basis upon which I can conclude that the parents have been denied a fair trial or that there has been any defect in the process.
THE LAW IN RELATION TO WITHDRAWAL OF TREATMENT
95
I am grateful to Miss Harry Thomas QC for her analysis of the relevant law, which I adopt.  The common law and the Children Act 1989 impose responsibility for the care and nurture and protection of children on the parents.  Those with parental responsibility can consent to medical treatment on behalf of a child.  If there is no consent the court in the exercise of its inherent jurisdiction can make such orders as it thinks are in the best interests of the child in question.  That proposition emerges from Re J (Wardship: Medical Treatment) [1991] Fam 33, at 41, and Portsmouth NHS Trust v. Wyatt (at first instance) [2005] 1 FLR 21, paras.21-23.
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The court will intervene in a situation where parents exercise their parental responsibilities bona fide and reasonably and the court takes the parents’ considered opinion into account when reaching its decision as to what is in the best interests of the child.  However, the role of the court is to exercise an independent and objective judgment on the basis of all the evidence: see  Butler-Sloss L.J. (as she then was) in Re T (Wardship: Medical Treatment) [1997] 1 WLR 242, 250E:


“The consent or refusal of the parents is an important consideration to weigh in the balancing exercise to be carried out by the judge.  In that context, the extent to which the court will have regard to the view of the parents will depend upon the court’s assessment of that view, but as Sir Thomas Bingham said in Re Z, the court decides and in so doing may overrule the decision of a reasonable parent.”
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The fundamental principle of the sanctity of life is not absolute.  Whilst Article 2 of the European Convention of Human Rights imposes a positive obligation to give life sustaining treatment, where responsible medical opinion is of the view that such treatment is in the best interests of the patient it does not impose an absolute obligation to treat if such would be futile: see NHS Trust A v. M and NHS Trust B v. H [2001] Fam 348, and R (Burke) v. The General Medical Council [2005] EWCA 1003 at para.61, approving the dictum of Munby J. at first instance that:


“There is a very strong presumption in favour of taking all steps which will prolong life and save in exceptional circumstances or where the patient is dying the best interests of the patient will normally require such steps to be taken.  In case of doubt, that doubt falls to be resolved in favour of the preservation of life but the obligation is not absolute.  Important as the sanctity of life is, it may have to take second place to human dignity.”
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Withdrawal of life sustaining treatment which is no longer in the patient’s best interests is not a breach of Articles 2, 3 or 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights: see, again, R (Burke) v. The General Medical Council.  “Best interests” are not confined to best medical interests but embrace medical, social, emotional and welfare issues.  The court is not tied to the clinical assessment of what is in the patient’s best interests and it will reach its own conclusion on the basis of careful consideration of the evidence before it.
99 Miss Harry Thomas refers me to Re MB (Medical Treatment) [1997] 2 FLR 426 and Re A (Male Sterilisation) [2000] 1 FLR 549, 555E and Re L (Medical Treatment: Benefit) [2005] 1 FLR 491, 494.  The court must conduct a balancing exercise in which all relevant factors are weighed.  The court will assess the benefits and burdens of giving or not giving potential treatments and of maintaining or withdrawing certain forms of treatment in order to assess OT’s best interests.  
100   In Re J (A Minor) (Child in Care:  Medical Treatment) [1991] Fam 33 at 46E it was said that:


“This brings me face to face with the problem of formulating the critical equation.  In truth, it cannot be done with mathematical or any precision.  There is without doubt a very strong presumption in favour of a course of action which will prolong life, but even accepting the ‘cabbage case’ to which special considerations may well apply it is not irrebuttable.  As this court recognised in Re B account has to be taken of pain and suffering and quality of life which this child will experience if life is prolonged.  Account has also to be taken of pain and suffering involved in the proposed treatment itself.  In Re B was probably not a borderline case and I do not think that we are bound or should treat Templeman L.J.’s use of the words ‘demonstrably so awful’ or Dunn L.J.’s use of the word ‘intolerable’ as providing a quasi statutory yardstick.  We know that the instinct and desire for survival is very strong.  We all believe in and assert the sanctity of human life.  


“As explained, this formulation takes account of this and also underlines the need to avoid looking at the problem from the point of view of the decider, but instead requires him to look at it from the assumed point of view of the patient.  This gives effect, as it should, to the fact that even very severely handicapped people find a quality of life rewarding which to the unhandicapped may seem manifestly intolerable.  People have an amazing adaptability, but in the end there will be cases in which the answer must be that it is not in the interests of the child to subject it to treatment which will cause increased suffering and produce no commensurate benefit, giving the fullest possible weight to the child’s and mankind’s desire to survive.  
There is no single test of intolerability by which best interests can be judged.  Each case depends on its own circumstances.”  


In Burke v. GMC at para.63 it was said:


“As to the approach to best interests where a patient is close to death it seems to us that the judge himself recognised that intolerability was not the test of best interests.”

At para.104 he said:



“Where the patient is dying the goal may properly be to ease suffering and where appropriate to ease the passing rather than to achieve a short prolongation of life.


We agree.  We do not think it possible to attempt to define what is in the best interests of the patient by a single test applicable in all the circumstances.”  

101
In Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust v. Wyatt [2005] EWCA Civ 1181, [2005] 1 WLR 3995, it was said:


“We do not dismiss ‘intolerability’ altogether.  As we have already stated, we agree with Hedley J. that whilst ‘intolerable to the child’ should not be seen either as a gloss on or a supplementary guide to best interests it is, as he said, a valuable guide in the search for best interests in this kind of case.”

102      I have been referred to the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health Guidelines, “Withholding or withdrawing life sustaining treatment in children”, dated May 2004, at Paragraph 3.1.3. 

103
I am satisfied that OT falls within the following categories. 
104     The first is the “No Chance” situation:


“Treatment delays death but neither improves life’s quality nor potential.  Needlessly prolonging treatment in these circumstances is futile and burdensome and is not in the best interests of the patient.  Hence there is no legal obligation for a doctor to provide it.  Indeed, if this is done knowingly (futile treatment) it may constitute an assault or ‘inhuman and degrading treatment’ under Article 3 of the ECHR.  Consider, for example, a child with progressive metastatic malignant disease whose life would not benefit from chemotherapy or other forms of treatment aimed at cure.”

105
The second is the “No Purpose” situation:


“In these circumstances the child may be able to survive with treatment but there are reasons to believe that giving treatment may not be in the child’s best interests.  For example, the child develops or already has such a degree of irreversible impairment that it would be unreasonable to expect them to bear it.  Continuing treatment might leave the child in a worse condition than already exists with the likelihood of further deterioration leading to an ‘impossibly poor life’.  The child may not be capable now or in the future of taking part in decision making or other self-directed activity.  In all the above circumstances it is appropriate to consider withholding or withdrawing treatment.  If it is likely that the future life will be ‘impossibly poor’ then treatment might reasonably be withheld.  If such a life already exists and there is a likelihood of it continuing without foreseeable improvement treatment might reasonably be withdrawn.”

106
In the decision in Wyatt v. Portsmouth NHS Trust [2006] 1 FLR, 554, the Court of Appeal set out the “intellectual milestones” for the court to consider.  They are:


1.
The judge must decide what is in the best interests of the child;


2.
In doing so, the child’s welfare is a paramount consideration;


3.
The judge must look at it from the assumed point of view of the patient;


4.
There is a strong presumption in favour of the course of action that would prolong life but that presumption is not irrebuttable; 


5.
The term “best interests” encompasses medical, emotional and all other welfare issues; and


6.
The court must conduct a balancing exercise in which all relevant factors are weighed.

107
I bear in mind that OT is a unique human being.  His life is valuable.  He does not need to justify its value.  Disabled people have as much right to life as any other persons.  The life of a disabled person is no less valuable than the life of a person in normal health.  As is pointed out by the court in Re L, many disabled people live with disabilities and discomfort and pain in circumstances which non-disabled people cannot contemplate as manageable.  Long term ventilation is not a reason for shortening life.  Many people live on long term ventilation.  Many people live with long term brain damage.  However, when considering this case, I am bound to take into account all the circumstances and to reach a decision which is compatible with OT’s interests.  It is not necessarily compatible with long term interests for a patient to be kept alive for as long as possible.  This is particularly so when the treatment concerned causes pain, discomfort or is degrading.  

108
To paraphrase Ward L.J. in Re A (Children) (Conjoined Twins: Surgical Separation) [2001] 2 WLR 480, OT has a right to life, he does not have a right to be kept alive.  Mr. Bowen accepts this formulation. OT, in my view, does not have a right to be kept alive in all circumstances.  
109
The guardian and Miss Wood have provided a balance sheet, as has Miss Harry Thomas.  The factors set out in Miss Harry Thomas’ balance sheet are subsumed within the guardian’s balance sheet, and with respect to her I will not deal with them separately.  If there is any point with which she thinks I need specifically to deal I am sure that she will remind me at the conclusion of this judgment.  The advantage of the guardian’s balance sheet is that Mr. Bowen, on behalf of the parents, has had an opportunity to respond to it by annotating it and making additions.  Because of the extensive comments I have made I set this out in narrative rather than in tabular form. 
DISBENEFITS/BURDENS OF CONTINUING TREATMENT
110    OT has a mitochondrial condition which is as a result of metabolic disorder of genetic origin.  This is a life limiting condition which is progressive – i.e. further deterioration is inevitable.  

The parents agree this.  
111 
OT has sustained irreversible brain damage.  Once brain cells are dead they cannot be regenerated.  OT has a generalised loss of cortical tissue and fluid around his brain is larger than normal.  Neurons cannot be replaced or repaired.  They are simply replaced by scar tissue.  OT has lost the potential for brain growth and development because of the existing damage to his brain.  His head is not growing, which is a sign of loss of neurons. 


This is not agreed by the parents. It is submitted on their behalf that since OT’s condition is so rare it is possible that Dr. Pohl and Dr. C may be wrong about their prognosis for OT and there may be some possibility of improvement.  The doctors’ advice and opinion is that once brain tissue has been destroyed, particularly as a result of progressive neuro-metabolic disease, there is no prospect of regeneration of the brain function.  It is not, for instance, equivalent to an adult suffering a stroke in an isolated area of the brain where other areas of the brain may take over certain functions. They also have extensive experience of similar conditions from which they are able to make their prognosis. 

I, therefore, sadly have to reject the parents’ view that OT may surprise the doctors and that his brain may in some respects recover as a result of copper treatment or otherwise.
112  
OT is unable to breathe independently because of his disorder and is ventilated by a tracheostomy and is being kept alive by ventilation. 

This is agreed.
113
OT cannot suck or swallow because of his disorder and is fed by nasogastric tube and this is a permanent situation for him.  He cannot control his own secretions and this will not change.  

The mother says that OT can suck and the father points to the video which seems to indicate OT making sucking movements with his lips.  The clinical evidence, which I accept, is that OT cannot suck in the sense of being able to take liquids into his mouth or remove liquids from his mouth into his alimentary system, and therefore he cannot suck in any meaningful sense.  The position of the parents is that the question of treatment of OT’s respiratory secretions needs investigation.  I heard compelling evidence from Dr. S as to the inability to provide any further drug treatment or other therapy in any way acceptable to OT to control his respiratory secretions.  If thickening agents or dehydrating agents are introduced into OT’s system then that may make the secretions unsuctionable and therefore cause asphyxiation of themselves.  There is nothing more that can be done, I accept.
114
OT coughs and goes blue when he is in difficulty with respiratory secretions and becomes distressed.  The experience is similar to a feeling of being suffocated or drowning.  

The parents’ case, which sadly I have to reject on the evidence, is that this is controllable.
115
As a result of the secretion problem OT undergoes regular suctioning, including deep suction from his mouth, throat and nose, day and night, and he shows clear signs of distress during suctioning.  Dr. S  says that he screws up his limbs, tries to withdraw and tears form in his eyes.  Dr. SA  says that she is very clear that he has very regularly suffered distress and pain through suctioning.  

I accept that suctioning can take place on a very frequent basis, as much as eight times in a 15 minute period.  I accept the evidence that this is extremely distressing to OT.  The father said that he did not think that the suctioning was necessarily distressing.  He said he thought that 2 per cent of the suctionings cause OT distress.  The father’s perception of this is, in my view, not one upon which I can place reliance.  I am not suggesting that he is deliberately blinding himself to OT’s distress, but I think that his perception is based upon his belief that OT’s life must be preserved at all costs.
116
OT’s degree of suffering outweighs his brief moments of pleasure.  

This is not accepted by the parents.  The parents rely on evidence from nurses who have been with OT for relatively short periods of time, which seems to suggest that he settles in his parents’ arms and that he may sometimes enjoy being stroked.  The totality of the evidence that I have heard from the doctors and those who have observed OT is that much physical contact with OT, including some of that which is intended to be pleasurable, causes him to withdraw and to grimace and must therefore be concluded to be painful or in other ways distressing to him. 
117
OT has periods of desaturation and demonstrates evidence of distress during these episodes which may require urgent suctioning and “bagging”.  

This is accepted by the parents.
118
It is unclear what OT’s level of consciousness is.  Dr. Fortune in evidence said it was more likely that OT is able to feel a number of unpleasant stimuli, although it is possible that he has some ability to occasionally have a pleasurable, calming reaction, which would be limited to very, very short periods of time.  He described OT as having a very limited link with the outside world.  

The parents do not accept that evidence. I accept the evidence of Dr Fortune, supported by the other doctors, rather than the parents’ perception which is so much linked in with their own view of OT.
119
OT is not able to fix and follow with his eyes.  His clarity of vision is uncertain.  He does not show normal visual behaviour and has not demonstrated any ability to respond to visual stimuli.  

The parents do not agree this and do not agree that OT is blind. The evidence that he is cortically blind (i.e. unable to make sense of what he sees), supported by the evidence of the damage to his brain seen on the MRI scans, is compelling and is supported by what I saw on the video. 
120
Dr Pohl said that OT’s reflex response could be frustrating for him. This is because OT twitches and his limbs move without conscious volition.  

Although this is not the most important point, Dr. Pohl, as a neurologist, is in a position to give that opinion, which I accept, although the parents reject it.
121
OT wakes infrequently and for short periods of time.  Dr. S said he was asleep most of the time.  Dr. SA said she did not consider that OT was fully awake, and he opened his eyes for brief periods only.  

The maximum period of time when the nurses say that OT has been awake is half an hour at a time, and what is described is not a period of wakefulness as one would normally understand it, but periods when he is more conscious, when he opens his eyes from time to time but does not have them open consistently.  I note that the video showed him to have his eyes open only intermittently. I do not accept the parent’s evidence that he is sometimes awake for a number of hours at a time. 
122
OT is not able to show repeated and predictable behaviour.  

Dr SA and Dr Pohl told me that his periods of wakefulness are not long enough for him to learn.  When he is awake he is not fully awake.  His moments of wakefulness are of a lesser quality than those of a baby in the first few weeks of life because he cannot maintain them.  He has a response to marked stimulation, not a purposeful response.  That evidence is entirely in line with what I have observed on the video and with all the evidence that I have heard, notwithstanding that the parents do not agree it.  Dr. SA takes the view that OT’s developmental progress is one of degeneration rather than progression.  I do not accept the parent’s view that he is improving. There is absolutely no evidence of that.
123
OT has suffered harm and is at risk of suffering further harm through the medical interventions that are necessary to keep him alive.  

This relates to the suctioning, constant venous access causing him the pain of needles being introduced into him, “bagging” and intensive ventilation, and now of course the degree of ventilation pressure that is being exerted on him.  So notwithstanding that the parents do not accept this point, it seems to me to be well founded.  Dr S and Dr C told me that OT will suffer ongoing infections and seizures leading to his brain deteriorating further and multi-organ failure because all tissues and organs have mitochondrial cells.  The parents do not accept that, pointing to the fact that the first major infection was on 4th March.  The father’s view is that OT’s recent deterioration is because the infection has not been beaten.  He does not accept as a proposition that there is any neuro-metabolic component to OT’s present crisis.  The evidence as to OT’s disease and its likely progression is overwhelming.  The fact that OT had not suffered a major infection until March is a tribute to the excellent care that he has received at the hospital.  What has happened over the last ten days is entirely in line with the predictions of the experts as to the likely progression of the disease.  I also note that between September and November of last year there was a series of what might be called “mini episodes” of a similar nature. That is consistent with the disease as described to me.
124
OT’s response to auditory stimuli is limited to massive involuntary unwanted motor movements.

The parents do not agree this. It is difficult to assess OT’s level of hearing, but the medical evidence is that his response to noise is likely to be reflex driven and it is unlikely that he can interpret sound.  Dr. S says that his response to sound is a startle response. I consider that OT may be soothed by or can respond, to some limited extent, to parental voices, but again what I saw on the video indicated that he only responded noticeably to major noises, and did not appear to respond by turning his head or in any other way to music that was being played to him or to voices.
125
OT does not have the ability to communicate his needs and wishes to others and this is permanent.  

The parents take the view that OT can communicate his pain and his pleasure.  It is plain to me that he does not have the ability to communicate his needs and wishes to others.  He is able, to an extent, to communicate pain.  One of the fears expressed by the doctors in this case is that he often experiences pain which he cannot convey.  The extent to which he experiences pleasure and can convey it is, in my view, extremely limited.
126
OT shows minimal reaction to his environment whether towards touch, visual stimulation or sounds.  

The parents do not agree this, but again this seems to me to be entirely supported by all the evidence and by the video.
127
OT’s limb movements are withdrawal from stimuli and not purposeful.    OT makes no purposeful movements and is not able to consciously to control his movements.  This will not change.  

The medical and nursing evidence, in conjunction with the video, demonstrates that  any purposeful movement is extremely limited indeed.  Dr. Pohl and Dr. C told me that in order for it to be concluded that there was such voluntary purposeful movement by OT it would have to be demonstrated on a regular and predictable basis, and that evidence is entirely absent. The parents say that there was an occasion, referred to in the nursing notes, when OT was kicking in the bath.  Dr. Pohl’s view was that it was highly unlikely that a child of this age could kick one leg only, which is what is described, and his view, particularly taken in conjunction with his analysis of the MRI scan of the damage to OT’s brain, and the lack of other similar observations, is that this was entirely consistent with a twitching movement and that it is highly unlikely to have been purposeful.
128
OT does not appear to show signs of pleasure.  

Dr. Pohl commented that it was optimistic to suggest that he has a pleasurable response to stimuli. Although the parents do not agree this, the limited signs that he experiences contentment in their arms, or that he at least shows lack of obvious pain and discomfort, do not, to my mind, fall within the category of showing signs of pleasure.
129
OT is distressed by adverse stimulation showing arching of the back, and tensing of the limbs.  

The parents agree this.  The evidence given by the hospital doctors and nurses in relation to this was very compelling.  I note that I have not seen any such incidents in any detail on the videos I have been shown.  There was one clip which concluded with OT beginning to arch his back and to tense his limbs, but the clip ended there.
130
Dr. Pohl said that OT spends the vast majority of his time in a distressed state.  

That is not agreed by the parents. In my view what Dr. Pohl said may go too far. It is difficult to evaluate OT's  presentation conclusively.  There is certainly evidence that he often shows distress and there is material in the videos, as Dr. Pohl said, that suggests that sometimes that he was not entirely comfortable even if there were no overt signs of distress.  The parents say that they conclude that OT is not suffering very much pain.  Although the degree of pain which he suffers is difficult to evaluate it seems to me that it is substantial. The very circumstances of OT’s existence and his treatment lead me to the conclusion that he is suffering. That this cannot always be identified does not mean that he is not suffering.
131
Because of OT’s condition the medical treatment he receives is only to sustain his life and not treating his condition to make him well.  

The parents do not agree.  They take the view that OT should continue to receive copper treatment and that it is likely to have some considerable effect on his brain and his general wellbeing.  I have already said that I do not accept that copper is making a significant difference to his overall condition.  I also note in connection with the pain and suffering element of OT’s treatment that until recently OT was receiving copper injections and those injections seemed to cause him intense pain.  Copper is an irritant and he showed his reaction to the injections, I am told and I accept, in a very marked manner.  The father’s approach is that he wishes OT to continue receiving copper and he is concerned that the oral copper which OT is presently receiving is not sufficient to maintain his blood copper levels. The parents want him to receive all the treatment that he can because they think that he may get better or at least improve. 
132
OT cannot move and is therefore reliant on others to have his position changed every six hours to prevent soreness.  He becomes agitated when he is moved.  

The parents agree.
133
OT has lived all bar three weeks of his life in a paediatric intensive care unit and this is not a normal environment.  It is not usual for a child to be there on an ongoing basis.  

The parents accept this as a statement of fact but do not accept that he is in any way in an unusual or detrimental environment.  I have heard evidence from the doctors that it is not a good environment for a child to be in an intensive care unit for all his life, if he is in a position to experience and have any reaction to his environment.  If the reality is that he has little interaction with his environment then sadly it may not matter where he is.
134
If a cure were available for OT’s disease it would be unlikely to have any effect on his condition now because of the damage that has already occurred.  

The parents cannot agree that.  I fear that they are wrong. 
135
Finally, Dr. S takes the view that OT will never have a life free of medical intervention. 
On the evidence of OT’s condition that seems to me to be inevitable. The parents’ response is only that they do not know what the future may be.
THE BENEFITS FOR OT OF CONTINUING TREATMENT
136
OT’s parents love and care for him deeply.  

He is held and cuddled by his parents.  His parents sing and talk to him.  
137
Nurse MC thought that OT gained comfort from his parents’ presence.  Mr. Bowen points out that Nurse MC thought that OT could feel pleasure and was aware of carers including the nurses and his parents.  I accept that that may be so to some extent. Dr. Pohl said that it may be possible for OT to find a sense of wellbeing in a warm bath and that there may be moments when he appears serene and calm, although it is impossible to comment as to his level of awareness.   I accept that there is some evidence of some minimal response to the presence of parents and others, but it is apparent to me from watching the videos and considering Dr. Pohl’s evidence as to the times when OT experiences distress, even when with his parents and in their arms, that he is unable to feel sustained pleasure by interacting with his environment. I point again to the fact that he seems unable to respond to music or any other interaction.
138
OT has been seen to smile on one or two occasions.  

Dr. C saw OT smile once when he visited him and once on the video, and the parents say that he smiles.  Nurse MC saw him smile from time to time.  The evidence is that there have occasionally been fleeting smiles, but they are not purposeful and they are not reactive, and they do not indicate any form of inter-reaction with his environment.  Sadly, all the evidence that I have heard supports that conclusion. There was no instance of purposeful reactive smiling on the videos. 
139
The copper treatment has improved his muscle tone and organs and it is possible that his remaining brain cells are protected by the copper.  

Dr. C thought it worth continuing the copper treatment, but it is plain, as I have already said, that he did not consider it was going to make any significant difference to the overall clinical position.
140
Dr. SA said that she had seen OT looking physically relaxed in his mother’s arms; and Nurse MC thought that he seemed contented when his father spoke and that there was some response to his parents’ voices.  She thought that OT made cooing noises back to the father.  

On all the evidence I am far from convinced that this is a response as opposed to a manifestation of some form of vocalisation from OT.  Even if it was some kind of spontaneous responsive vocalisation it seems to me on all the evidence that this was at a very early level of development and does not lead me to conclude that OT has any real sense of pleasure or any sense of communication.
141
OT can maintain a grip for about a minute.  He has short periods of wakefulness.  

It is right that he can maintain a grip. The doctors’ view is that this is a reflex response. The parents’ evidence that OT is awake for several hours at a time is wholly contradicted by all the evidence that I have seen, including the videos. The father says that on 2nd February, the original notes shows that OT had been awake all day and that the present note, which describes him as having been largely asleep, has been falsified.  I do not accept that there has been any falsification of the Carevue records in this (or any) regard. 
142
The parents report that OT responds to auditory stimulation, to settling in mother’s arms, and the application of teething pain relief. 

This may indicate that there is some minimal degree of reaction to presence but again his level of appreciation of this is, on all the evidence, bound to be at a very minimal level.
143
OT has the benefit of superb medical treatment in the care of the hospital, with some of the best experts in the country available to assist in his medical condition.  The hospital team has gone out of its way to treat him and care for him and to do what they can in relation to his secretions.  

The care that he has received has no doubt allowed him to live this long.  He has the benefit of a developmental programme and he has received appropriate and consistent stimulation, but apparently with not very much success.  
144
It is submitted on behalf of the parents that OT has substantial pain-free periods.  

I do not have any confidence that this is so, but even if he does have substantial pain-free periods this has to be put, in my view, against the fact that he is undoubtedly suffering very significantly, at least from time to time, and when he has to undergo invasive suctioning this means that he is subjected to pain and distress for very significant periods of his existence.  Of course, a judgment may have to be made in some cases as to the extent to which intermittent periods of lack of pain may compensate for periods of pain.  In this case it seems to me that the pleasurable aspects of OT’s existence are far outweighed by the discomfort which he feels.
145
OT, of course, has the incalculable benefit of life.
 
I entirely accept that

OT’S FUTURE
146
It is submitted that OT’s condition will inevitably deteriorate.  The parents cannot accept this.  The father accepts that it is a possibility but relies on the hope that this is not so.  The evidence is that OT is at risk of a pattern of recurrent distressing and life threatening episodes at regular intervals. This is based upon the whole clinical picture, the scans, the investigations, the diagnosis of his overall life limiting condition and indeed the pattern which is now emerging.  The father cannot accept this, but I have to agree with the doctors.
147
I do not accept Mr. Bowen’s submission that there is any real prospect of OT developing.  Although I accept that the doctors cannot be sure how long OT will live, on all the evidence, he is likely to have a very limited lifespan of increasing disability and increasing medical intervention causing pain and distress.

148
It is likely that there will be a continuation of suctioning procedures throughout his life.  The father maintains that there may be interventions  which can reduce his secretions – for instance, the surgery which has been referred to, but which I regard as wholly unconscionable in the circumstances of this case.
149
OT is at risk of further brain damage due to ongoing infections.  The father does not accept this, but the evidence is overwhelming. Infection not only increases the risk of decompensation, it also increases the risk of respiratory problems leading to hypoxia and then to high pressure ventilation with all its difficulties.  There is the risk of further infection and the potential for the repeated insertion of central lines.  That the father does not accept that prospect is against all of the evidence and also contradicts what the father, himself, wishes, which is that the lines should be replaced as and when it becomes necessary.
150
It is agreed by all including the parents that OT is at risk of complications of being ventilated throughout his life, that he is at risk of neuro-metabolic strokes leading to further damage to cerebral cortex and diminishing further any awareness of his surroundings, that he is at risk of further damage to his brainstem and to the basal ganglia. The medical evidence is that damage to his brainstem can lead to vomiting which would be very distressing and difficult to treat and would increase the risk of aspiration from lung damage.  Damage to the brainstem could also cause abnormalities of his heart rate and blood pressure and fever, likely to make him feel unwell, and which can be life threatening and impossible to treat.  
151
OT is at risk of multiple organ failure.  The evidence is that cardio-pulmonary resuscitation would cause pain and distress and potential injury.  As I have already recorded, on 6th March 2009, when he gave evidence, the father disputed that the CPR would have an adverse effect on OT.  His view is not realistic.  His alternative position is that CPR is justifiable if it would prolong OT’s life.  That, of course, is a different position and is one of the matters which I have to place into the balance.  In OT’s circumstances, the fact that CPR would cause pain, distress and potential injury is an important factor. 
152
Lastly, OT will suffer lung damage if high pressure ventilation continues.  He cannot remain at these pressures.  He is heavily sedated and continuous ventilation will be extremely damaging to him if lung damage is sustained.  If he has suffered lung damage, which it is highly likely that he has already sustained, and he is maintained alive on a ventilator it is likely that his demise will be far more distressing and prolonged than either abrupt or gradual reduction in ventilation supported by palliative care. 

MY FINAL CONCLUSIONS
153 
I am quite satisfied that the hospital, its doctors, nurses and staff have done everything to treat and support OT and the quality of care that he has received has been quite exceptional, I reject any suggestion of bad faith.  I wholly reject any suggestion that the Trust:

1.
has made this application in order to free an intensive care bed or for reasons of resources;  

2.
has made this application in anything other than good faith and in what they perceive to be in OT’s best interests;

3.
has falsified any records.  

154    The suggestion that the hospital has introduced infection into OT’s central line or has sought against the wishes of the parents to reduce OT’s ventilation on 16th March, or in any way sought to do him harm, is quite obviously fanciful and is a reflection, I suspect, of the circumstances in which the father finds himself and the distress which he feels. The father’s degree of suspicion in respect of these last two suggestions has fluctuated, over the period between the evidence that he gave on 6th March and that on 18th March, but has not in any way diminished as a latent fear or belief.
155
Most sadly, OT’s condition is serious, incurable and life limiting.  I accept the medical evidence that the sequence of fluctuating deterioration and intermittent recovery is consistent with his condition and is caused by it.  His present condition is either caused by neuro-metabolic decompensation or infection, or most likely both.
156
As at the date of this judgment it is not clear whether OT can or will survive this present episode.  He cannot continue to be ventilated at the present pressures without lung damage. If his condition does not improve the ventilation will have to be reduced (with a risk of death from hypoxia) or withdrawn in any event.   
157
On the basis of what happened last Monday, 16th March, and in spite of his assurances to the contrary, if I do not make the order to limit treatment and approving the withdrawal of ventilation, the father is likely to resist a reduction in ventilation and that would not be in OT’s best interests.  The episode last week indicates that any attempt to reduce ventilation or to withdraw whilst OT remains in treatment is likely to be met with force, with threats and quite possibly with violence.
158
If OT does make a recovery from this last episode it is unlikely that he will revert to his previous state.  He has had significant periods of hypoxia during the last ten days. The likelihood that he has suffered further brain damage from hypoxia is high. He is highly likely to have experienced lung damage.  If in addition he has indeed suffered another neuro-metabolic stroke then it is likely that there has been further serious brain damage.
159
If I do not grant the application to withdraw ventilation OT will decline. The spectrum of presentation is from death fairly immediately from organ failure and chronic lung damage, possibly complicated by infection, to a series of crises during which more and more desperate attempts would be made to provide treatment against the background of parental demands to escalate treatment.  I accept that the prospect for OT of painful and distressing interventions is inevitable if I do not make this order.  

160
The father does not and cannot appreciate the extent of OT’s distress.  He said that if he thought that OT were suffering significant distress then he would leave it to the court to take the decision or would approach the court himself, but he does not accept, contrary to all the evidence, that OT is suffering.  The father accepted that OT suffers a little from needles, but no more.  The father accepted that OT does not like the nasal suction tube and fights it.  He accepted the evidence of Nurse MC who described how very painful and unpleasant it is to have a naso-gastric tube inserted (similar to the experience of having a suction tube inserted), a process she had tried as a student and had to discontinue because it was so unpleasant.  He did not seem able to apply that description, which he accepted, to the experiences which OT has, sometimes on a very frequent basis indeed.  The process of nasal suctioning is equivalent to the insertion of nasogastric tube. 
161
Dr. S has experienced as an adult deep suctioning within the trachea and describes that as being like a red hot poker.  This was dismissed in submissions as hyperbole and over-dramatic.  However, it seems to me that I must pay regard to her evidence which is based upon actual experience.  Mr. Bowen asks me to disregard it on the basis that we do not know what OT feels, but it is some guide to me as to the fact that this is extremely invasive and traumatic treatment. Dr Pohl told me that children who have experienced oral suctioning find it extremely traumatic. 
162 
The father’s overall view that OT does not suffer is one with which I have to disagree.  All the procedures that OT has to undergo are bound to cause him distress, from discomfort to actual pain.  The evidence that he experiences pain at a level which is significant seems to me overwhelming.
163
When this case commenced I hoped that there might be a way in which the decision to withdraw life support might be obviated.  I note that in NHS Trust v MB and Mr and Mrs B [2006] EWHC 507 (Fam), where a child was suffering from spinal muscular atrophy, Holman J. did not accede to an application to withdraw life support in respect of this child, although he did make a limitation of treatment order very similar to that which I am being asked to endorse.  Holman J. stressed that in that case the child did have some quality of life.  He had normal cognition and the normal likely reactions of a child of his age to his family and his surroundings and no brain damage.  I regret that OT is in a very different position.
164
Turning to the discipline of NHS Trust v. Wyatt & Anor. [2005] 1 WLR 3995, [2005] EWCA Civ 1181, I am in no doubt that in OT’s present position it is not in his interests to suffer any more. I do not see any basis upon which his suffering can be alleviated to any meaningful extent.  Looking at this from assumed point of view of OT, bearing in mind all the factors which I have considered during the course of this judgment, and bearing in mind his lack of quality of life and the inevitable process of decline, particularly in the very dreadful circumstances in which he now finds himself, I believe that he would not wish to continue suffering in this way.  The presumption that life should be prolonged is not irrebuttable.  
165
I remind myself that OT is only being kept alive by the administration of increasingly invasive treatment.  I also have to take into account that in order to avoid lung damage, with all the consequences which I have outlined, it is likely to be necessary to reduce ventilation, which may in itself lead to death.  Therefore, this is not a simple either/or situation as it was in NHS Trust v MB and Mr and Mrs B [2006] EWHC 507 (Fam), where there was every prospect that the child could continue to live the life that he did, even with all its disbenefits, on continuing ventilation, for at least a time.  That stage has now passed in OT’s case.  The circumstances in which the hospital made their compromise proposal in January have now come to an end.
166
Furthermore, the father’s withdrawal of his concession in relation to the no treatment provision will make any continuing management of OT’s condition by the hospital absolutely impossible.  There is bound to be dispute over every intervention and the father will not agree.  If that provision is there, the father is not going to observe it.  He did not observe it when it was in force last Monday.  I have to take this factor into account also when considering all the circumstances. 
167
Mr. Bowen submitted to me when I heard his telephone application on Monday, and repeated in final submissions, that there is no need for me to make an order on the Trust’s application because the law provides that the Trust is entitled, as a matter of their clinical judgment, to take any step that it wishes in relation to OT’s medical management.  I am afraid that I do not agree with his interpretation of the law.  This is not a case analogous with R (Burke) v General Medical Council [2006] QB 273, where the legality of the GMC guidelines was considered in relation to an adult who was not under an incapacity.  

168
As Miss Harry Thomas has stressed to me, and as I have outlined in the analysis of the relevant law, the starting point is the question of the parents’ consent.  Treatment which is administered to a child without parental consent is “unlawful” constituting a civil trespass and possible criminal assault. In Glass v. The United Kingdom (Application No.61827/00) at Paragraphs 48 and 75,  the European Court of Human Rights, analysing the English legal position, said that the regulatory framework in the United Kingdom is firmly predicated on the duty to preserve the life of a patient, save in exceptional circumstances, and that that same framework prioritises the requirement of parental consent and, save in exceptional cases, requires doctors to seek the intervention of the courts in the event of parental objection. In Re A (Children) (Conjoined Twins: Surgical Separation) Lord Justice Ward made the same point.  I am in no doubt that it is necessary for there to be parental consent in relation to the withdrawal of treatment or the giving of treatment.  That withdrawal and giving of treatment have to be regarded in the same way is demonstrated by the decision in Airedale NHS Trust v. Bland [1993] 2 WLR 316.
169
Mr. Bowen’s submission that the hospital can withdraw treatment without parental consent is contrary to his earlier submission, relying on Portsmouth NHS Trust v. Wyatt & Anor. [2005] 1 WLR 3995, [2005] EWCA Civ 1181 that it is for the parents to agree or not agree to any form of treatment until the court makes a decision.  I do not accept his present submission. It is necessary for the Trust to come to this court for declarations, and for the court to make such declarations. In this case I am in no doubt that I should make the declarations as sought. 

170
The parents are obviously devoted and loving parents, and I am sure very good people. I am sure that these words will not be of any comfort to Mr. and Mrs. T, and I recognise that. I have said some things about the father’s reaction to events.  I hope that he will not regard them as unnecessarily critical.  I have had to recite what has happened.  I cannot imagine what he and his wife must be going through. 
171
I know that the parents may wish to appeal the decision and I have already discussed with counsel the arrangements which might be put in place for a very speedy hearing of an application tomorrow, Friday, if that is the course they wish to adopt.  The way in which I propose to deal with that, subject to submissions, is not to grant permission to appeal.  Permission to appeal must be a matter for the Court of Appeal, but I will grant a short stay of this order to enable an application to be made to the Court of Appeal tomorrow as a matter of urgency.  If there is any assistance I can give with regard to approving any note of my judgment, which I am sorry has been so long – the less time to consider a judgment, the longer it tends to be, I am afraid – then I will happily give it tomorrow.
_________
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